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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

STEWART LIFF, et al.,

Plaintiffs,
V. Civil Action No. 14-1162 (JEB)

OFFICE OF THE INSPECTOR
GENERAL FOR THE U.S.
DEPARTMENT OF LABOR, et al.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiff Stewart Liff,an experienced consultantpublicsector humaimesources
managemensays heaand his eponymous firm, Stewart Liff & Associates, hlbeenwrongfully
impugned by several arms of the federal governmBath thus sued the U.S. Dapaent of
Labor,its Office of Inspector General, the Office of Personnel Management, andlIde@gr
and OPMofficers. Theyallegethat Defendantsiolated both the Fifth Amendment and the
Administrative Procedure Act by falsely suggestimgpublic statements and documents, that
Plaintiffs lacked integrity andood characteand that those statemebt®adlycurtailed their
ability to secure government contracBefendantsrow move to dismissdentifying a series of
impediments that they maintainolgks this suit. As most are not insuperable at this stage, the
Court will largely deny the Motion and permit the case to proceed to discovery.

l. Background

According to the Complaint, which the Court must accept as true in evaluating

Defendants’ Motion, Liff is a seasoned HR executive, having wdikeseveral decadeas

senior positions within the U.S. Departmentefense and Veterans Affairs. Seéempl.,
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1 11. Upon retiring from civil service, Liff turned to government consulting, building a book of
business consisting mostly of fedeagjency clients. Sed., 1115-18.

A. Plaintiff's Government Contracts

After the inauguration of President Obama in 2009, Liff reached @uttembepf the
administration’s transition team for the Department of Veterans Atfajpsomote hiskills and
suggest reforms for the agencyeeid., 1 19. The individual he contacted, Ray Jefferson, did
not end up serving in théA but was appointethsteadasAssistant Secretary f@OL’s
Veterans’ Employment and Training ServiG®OL-VETS), which provides job training and
other employmentelated resources for returnisgrvice membersSeeid., 1 20. Convinced
that Liff could be of assistance to DOIETS, Jefferson arranged fbim to be hired &s a
subcontractor under an existing conttdctthat office working with several individuals in
DOL-VETS'’ Office of Agency Management and Budget to make that happead., 1 21.

Beginning in late 2009, Liff begamseries of consultanciés DOL-VETS, workingas a
subcontractor to three differgmtime contractors. From November 2009 to March 2010, he
worked undea subcontract withror Your Information, Inc., and frolpril 2010 to August
2010, he subcontracted with MSTI, Inc.; botmpanies held contraaigectly with DOL-
VETS. Seeid., 1122-23. From September 2010 to December 2010, he provided consulting
servicedo DOL-VETS through a contratchata company nantelnformation Experts, Incheld
with OPM. Seeid.,  24. DOL-VETS was able to obtain Liff's servicesder that contradty
establishing amteragency agreement with ORMwhichDOL-VETS could reimburs©PM
for using the latter’s contract vehicl&eeid.

In March 2011, Liff's work under the Information Experts contract expanded beyond his

DOL-VETS client to includairectwork for OPM. Seeid., T 36. Under the terms of his



contract with Information Experts, he was to be paid for performisayete fixed-price task
orders. Seeid., 11 36-37.Liff claims thathis work was going swimmingly when, in August
2011, OPM abruptly “terminat[ed] the task order under which Liff was providing human
resources management consulting . . . to OPM.," | 47.

B. DOL-OIG Investigation

At least a month befot@etask order was terminatedowevey there wereignsthat all
was not welfrom the government’s perspectiwgh Liff's contracts In July 2011after
conducting an eightaonthinvestigation, th®epartment of Labor’s Office of Inspector General
(DOL-0OIG) issued a finateportconcluding that certaioontracting improprieties had taken
place alDOL-VETS during Jefferson’s tenuresSeeid., 1134, 35, 38. The primary focus ofth
investigation was whether Jefferson and other agency offl@asnproperlycircumvented
federal procurement lasinretainingLiff's services. Seeid., { 38. The report concluded that
Jefferson and other officials hadfact acted in such a way that “reflect[ed] a consistent
disregard of federal procurement rules and regulations, federal ethiaplpsnand the proper
stewardship of appropriated dollardd., 138, see als®OL-OIG Report No. 14-1300002 IA
(“DOL-OIG Report”) Cover Memorandurat 11 The primary basis for this conclusi@ays
Liff, is that Jefferson and his colleagues purportedly pressured certaingarmsurofficials in
DOL-VETS to hire Liff, regardless afhether that meant disregarding strict procurement

policies SeeCompl., 1 38. Even though Plaintiffs agree that the main purpose of the report was

! Available at https://www.oig.dol.gov/public/reports/DOL_OIG_VETS_InvestigatReport.pdf. Defendants
supplied a copy of the DGDIG report, albeit without including the cover memorandum, &8 to their

Motion. As both thereport and its cover memorandamre public government documents, the Court may consider
themwithout converting Defendars Motion to Dismiss into one for summary judgm&geE.E.O.C. v. St.

Francis Xavier Parochial S¢ii17 F.3d 621, 624 (D.C. Cir. 189 Detroit Int'l Bridge Co. v. Goit of CanadaNo.
10476, 2015 WL 5726601, at {®.D.C. Sept. 30, 2015)
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to expose procurement improprieties originating from governofénoials, including Jefferson,
they contend that “Liff and his consulting services were the central focus [oéplaet],” id., and
that it“contained numerous blatant misstatements and false characterizationgsalpecifi
regarding Liff” that cast doubt on his honesty and integridgeid., 11 42-43.

In Plaintiffs’ view, the retaliatory motivations of certadOL-VETS employees have
undermined the legitimacy of tlemtire investigationTheyallegethat itcame about because
severaldisgruntledDOL-VETS employees werdispleased witltertainreformshe had
proposed to senior officers, like Jefferson, within the ageBeeid., 1 33-34.Liff
acknowledgeshathe had beethighly critical” of the agency’s budget offiaa various
assessmenmeports he submitted tbhe agency, antdeassertshat the office’sdeputy director,
Angela Freeman, arahothetbudgeteffice employee, Paul Briggstruck baclkagainst Liff and
Jefferson by lodgingomplaints with DOEOIG. Seeid., 1132-33, 41.

Whatever the reasons for its initiation, theestigaton went forward under the auspices
of Acting Inspector Gegral Daniel Petroldd., 15, who directed two of his subordinates to
interview Liff as a “witness.”ld., 1 78-79.Liff cooperatedid., I 78, but insists that no one
from DOL-OIG notified himthat the investigation miglyield a final report thateflectedpoorly
on his reputation, or thather witnesses like FreemanBriggs,or perhaps evetheir union
represetatives— had alreadyrovided “false and vindictive accusations and characterizations of
[Liff's] work at DOL-VETS.” Id., 135;seeid., § 78. Ater reviewing theDOL-OIG Report
upon its release in July 2011, Liff wdspleasedhat the report repeated at least Freeman’s
assertions without indicating thsthe “was a person of highly suspect credibility with a strong

bias to malign both. . Jefferson and Liff."d., §41.



Accompanying the report’s releas@s a covememorandum from Petrole to Seth
Harris, therDeputy Secretary of DOlthat summarizeinaccurately, says Liffthe contents of
the report. Seeid., 138. The memorandunrecommended that DOL take certain folloyy
actions,including “review[ing]” the specific procurementgentified in the DOLOIG Report
and “determin[ing] what, if any, further actions should be taken.” Cover Memo. at 3.

On July 27, 2011, “DOL and DOL-OIG convened a joint press conference, announcing
the findings and conclusions in the D@L report and thus, according to Liff, repeating the

report’'s“false depictions of Liff.”Compl., § 45. The press conference spawned a Washington
Postarticle that “asserted that Liff had received approximately $700,000r services that
could have been secured at a much lower cost through open competition” and noted that his work
included giving “advice on the ‘proper color scheme’ for officesD@L-VETS, thus casting
substantial doubt on whether the government had obtained good valuedeniiss.Seeid.

At the end of August 2011, Deputy Secretidgrris released a followp memorandum
to the July 2011 DOL-OIG ReporEeeid., T 48. Liff contends thauchmemorandum
“ratified” the DOL-OIG Report’s inaccurate findings by “praising D@QLUG for its report and
setting forth concrete follow-up actions .relat[ing] to Liff.” 1d. Specifically, Harris stated in
the memo that DOL woulddédggressively pursue’ Liff for ‘all valid causes of action’ under, inter
alia, the False Claims Act.Id.

According to the Complaintheinvestigation, report, press conference, and responsive
memorandum areoncrete asttaken byDOL andDOL-OIG thathadanadverseeffect on
Plaintiffs. As a result, Liff claims,énlost a “prized” invitation to speak at an annual conference

where numerous higlevel federal officials- and presumably prospective clients — would be

present.ld., 1 51. The National Labor Relations Boatslorescinded an offer for Plaintiff to



teach a seminar on how to manage federal employde#\nd the Los Angeles Federal
Executive Board revokeits invitation for Liff to speak at one of its eventsl.
He also states thatost” of his consulting work had previously originated with
government officialsieaching out to him directly by way of his website, but that all inquiries
effectively dried upn the aftermath of the government’s damaging statements abautcijm
1 52. Formerfederatagency clientstopped doing business with him, including several branches
of the Department of Veterans Affairs in Californid.,  53. Finally, Liff claims that theeport
and DOL memorandum causedignificant decline in his festal contracting work.
Specifically, he notes that he
ha[d] submitted competitive bids on a variety of government
contracts since the issuance of the BOIG report, but with one
exception, [was not] selected for any project. Government
contractors thatdd expressed strong interest in teaming up with Liff
later refused to partner with him because of the adverse publicity
from the DOL-OIG report.

Id., 1 52. Liff does not, howevddentify whichagencies received his bidswhich one

ultimately decidedo do business with him.

C. OPM Investigation

DOL’s and DOL-OIG’s actionsalsotriggered a collateral investigation DPM’s
inspector generah late July 2011. Arounthat time, OPM'’s thewlirectorBerry held a press
conference in which he “statadter alia, that Liff and/or Stewart Liff & Associates, Inc. would

not be used again by OPM for consulting services, a statement reported in a \WadPosy

article the next day.’ld., 150. (The Complaint does not make clear whether the article is the
same one that reported on his purportedly overvalued conssdtiviges)
OPM’s Office of Inspector éneral then setut to inquire‘into how Liff's services as a

subcontractor to OPM through the existing contract with [Information Expeddjéen



arranged.”ld., 1 47. Andaspreviously noted, about a month later in August 200iff, was
advised that OPM was terminating the task order under which Liff was providiRig [
management consulting throughformation Expertsto OPM” 1d. The value of that
outstanding task order was, according to Liff, $350,08€eid.

The OPMinvestigation proceeded similarly to the one conducted by DOL-OIG. The
agency interviewed Liff iMarch 2012 and issued an interim report on April 2, 20%8eid.,

1 49. Like the DOL-OIG Report, the OPM interim report also suggested ‘itfiatdervices

may have been ‘wasteful’ of taxpayer resources” due to improprieties in hogrvices were
obtained.Seeid. As occurred with the DOL investigaticagency hea8erry responded to the
reportwith a publiclyissuedmemorandumSeeid., { 50. In it, allegesLiff, Berry made clear

that, “after the issuance of ti#OL-OIG report” in July 2011he had taken steps to ‘ensure that
OPM immediately concluded any business involving [Stewart Liff & Asdesi Inc.].” 1d.
(quoting OPM’s 2013 memorandum).

Although Plaintiffs’ revenue stream hatteadybeentrending downward ever since July
2011, tlese “subsequent actions by OPM and Bertiff claims, contributed to a sharp, 97%
declinein revenue from 2011 to 20X2wused by hi%broad|] preclu[sion]” from federal-
government contractingd., 1 54.

In July 2014, Plaintiffs filed threecount Complaint against Defendants. The first,
asserted against DOL, DAQIG, andOPM, claims that the agenciagned Plaintiffs’
professional reputatiorend effectively debarred them from government contraetitigput
affording themadequate process guarantégdhe Fifth Amendment. Count fjledagainst
individual Defendants Petrole, HarrBerry, and two unknown agents of DADIG, seeks

damagedlowing from a Fifth Amendmentort violation under Bivens v. Six Unknown Named




Agents of Federal Bureau Nfarcotics 403 U.S. 388 (1971)Finally, Count lll, asserted against
the three federadgency Defendants, alleges tttaty allviolated the Administrative Procedure
Act by, inter alia, terminatingLiff's outstanding task ordand constructively debargrhim
from government-contracting work without affording him any procedural protections
. Legal Standard

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) provides for the dismissal of an actioe aher
complaint fails “to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” In evajuagfendants’
Motion to Dismiss, the Court must “treat the complaint's factual diegaas true . . . and must
grant plaintiff ‘the benefit of all inferences that can be derived from the &leged.” Sparrow

v. United Air Lines, Inc., 216 F.3d 1111, 1113 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (quoting Schuler v. United

States617 F.2d 605, 608 (D.C. Cir. 1979)) (citation omittege als@lerome Stevens Pharms.,

Inc. v. EDA, 402 F.3d 1249, 1250 (D.C. Cir. 2005). The nqtieading rules are “not meant to

impose a great burden upon a plaintiff,” Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 347 (2005),

who must be given every favorable inference that may be drawn from theiafisgztfact.

Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 584 (2007).

Although “detailed factual allegations” are not necessary to withstantedlR({l)(6)
motion, id.at 5%, “a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true téo ‘sta

a claim to relief that is plausible on its faceAshcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009)

(quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570). Plaintiff must put forth “factual aurtteat allows the
court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for thaduistcalleged.”
Id. The Court need not accept as true “a legal conclusion couched as a factual aflegatiam

inference unsupported by the factsfeeth in the Complaint._Trudeau v. Fed. Trade Comm’n.,

456 F.3d 178, 193 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (quoting Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286) (1986)




(internal quotation marks omitted)-or a plaintiff to survive a 12(b)(6) motion even if “recovery
is very renote and unlikely,” moreover, the facts alleged in the complaint “must be enough to
raise a right to relief above the speculative lev@viombly, 550 U.S. at 555-56 (citirfscheuer
v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974)).

In evaluating the sufficiency of Plaintiff€omplaint under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court may
consider “the facts alleged in the complaint, any documents either attaabreid¢orporated in

the complaint and matters of which [the court] may take judicial notEEOCVv. St. Francis

Xavier Parochial Sch117 F.3d 621, 624 (D.C. Cir. 1997). The Court may thus consider those

materials on a motion to dismiss without treating the motion “as one for summary judgment

under Rule 56.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(d); Marshall v. Honeywell Tech. Solulionis536 F. Supp.

2d 59, 65 (D.D.C. 2008).
1.  Analysis
In moving to dismiss, Defendardasguethatall of Plaintiffs’ three counts sufférom
fatal flaws. The Court examines each separately, lodkstgat the Fifth Amendment violation,
next considering Bivens, and concluding with the APA.

A. Count | (ProcedurdDue Process

Plaintiffs firstallegethat reports and public statements issued by DOL, [@DE&; and
OPM tarnished their good names and had the effect of both precluding them fromticmntrac
with thegovernment and rendering them unable to secure work from pseeater employers.
SeeCompl., 11 55, 69-73. These actions, they assert, were taken without giving them adequate
notice of the allegations of misconduct and an “opportunity to be heareawimgfully address”

them. Id., 167. In other words, the government failed to give Plaintiffs adeguatedural



protections under the Fifth Amendment’s guarantee that “[n]o person shall be . . . deprived
of .. .liberty. . . without due process law.” U.S. Const. AmendV.

“To state a claim for the denial of procedural due process, a plaintiff mege aliat the
government deprived her of a “liberty or property interest” to which she haydifthate claim
of entitlement,” and thatthe procedures attendant upon that deprivation warsticutionally

[in]sufficient.” ” New Vision Photography Program, Inc. v. Dist. of. Columbia, 54 F. Supp. 3d

12, 28 (D.D.C. 2014) (quoting Roberts v. United States, 741 F.3d 152, 161QD.2014)

(brackets in original) (quotingy. Dep’t of Corr. v. Thompson, 490 U.S. 454, 460 (1989)).

Plaintiffs’ Fifth Amendment dugsrocess claim is premised on the theory thiat]here a
person’s good nhame, reputation, honor, or integrity is at stake because of what thengoves
doing to him; that person’s liberty interest is on the line, meaning thatite and an

opportunity to be heard are essential.”” Bd. of Regents of State Colleges v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564,

573 (1972) (quoting Wisconsin v. Constantineau, 400 U.S. 433, 437 (198dQpp. at 7-8.

The Supreme Court has clarified thia¢ Due Processl@use does not insulate
individuals from “defamatory statements by the government alone,” but rathestpragainst
suchactionsonly whenother, ‘moretangibleinterests such as employméate at stakePaul v.
Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 701 (1976mphass added) In seeking dismissal of thount, the
governmenbfferstwo defenses one relatingo jurisdiction and the other the merits.

1. FTCA Defense

Hoping to bypasthis constitutionasand trap, the agency Defendants argue that
dismissal is warranted because Count | is merely a tort claim for defamatssed!iin
constitutional garb, and that the Federal Tort Claims Act is thus Plaietitfisivefairway to

relief. SeeMot. at 7. If so, Plaintiffs’ claim must faibecause the statute’s waiver of sovereign

10



immunity specifically excepts “[a]ny claim arising out.af. libel [or] slander.” 28 U.S.C.

§ 2680(h). In addition,drause Platiffs failed to exhaust theadministrativeeemedies under

the FTCA the Courfacks subjectmatter jurisdiction to entertain tlrause of actianid. at 89.
Tidy as this disposition might be, thegument is premised on Defendants’ erroneous

characerization of the de-process claim as‘in essence|, a] claim[] asserting causes of action

for libel or slander” 1d. at8 (quoting Budik v. Dartmouthtitchcock Med. Ctr.937 F. Supp.

2d 5, 15 (D.D.C. 2013)). Undoubtedly, had Plaintiffsited theirComplaint to seeking
damages resulting from “defamatidny the government . . . alon&?aul 424 U.Sat 701,the
guestion would be a closer one. But the allegations in the Complaint @ibgéhan just
defamation Plaintiffs assert, for instance, that the government unofficially deb#reen from
future contractsSeeCompl., 11 54, 64, 72. And they sew&rethan just monetary reliébr
past harms-namely, a wide range of injunctive remedi&eeCompl. at 35-37 .t is thus clear
that Count | cannot be dismissed on the basis that Plaintiffs “in essencejléaded a tort
claim for defamation.
2. Failureto State a Claim

Moving to the merits, the next questiomibetherthe Complaint plausibly alleges that
the three agencies here, either individually or collectively, hatgallycast doubt on Plaintiffs’
“good name(s], reputation[s], honor, or integrity,” Roth, 408 U.S. at 573 (quotation marks and
citation omitted), anthave worked a “tangible change[their] status” as a resulKartseva v.
Dep't of State37 F.3d 1524, 1527 (D.C. Cir. 1994).

i. Honesty and Integrity

On the first point, Defendants argue that the original, offendi@g-OIG Report “never
concluded that Liff was dishonest, wrtworthy, odacked integrity, and thus whatever harm

occurred to his reputation is not actionable under Roth and its pro§eeQ@pp. at 12-13.
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Reading the Complaint ithe light most favorable to Plaintiffs, however, the Court cannot
concur.

While Defendants arcorrect that many of Plaintiffs’ glosses on the DOIG Report
are exaggeratedfor instance, contrary to the presentation in the Complaint, the Report appears
never to have concludéldat Liff was “sitting around doing nothing” tinat his services
includedmerely“picking wall colors” compareCompl., I 42vith DOL-OIG Reportat 19-20 —
it is not apparent that the report as a whole couldeastonablye construed to cast a shadow
on Liff's honesty and integrity, especially given its decision to include numecsusations that
hehadengaged in falsbilling practices The criticalsection of the report includes findings
relevant to the question of whether “[Assistant Secretary] Jefferson apdfDAssistant
Secretary] McWilliams abused their authority by giving Stewart Lifbdwisory and assistance
contract and coercing [DO]VETS into manipulating existing federal contracts in order to hire
Liff without the benefit of competition.” DOIOIG Report at 4. The report is a carefully
crafted, editd, and curated presentation of information, all of which, presumably, was selected
becausdét wasdeemedertinent inanswering that question.

To that end, theeportcontains numerous statements from interviewsese hearsay,
that, taken together, suggest that Liff was greedy, engaged in unethical anidilupiling
practices, andffered at best nominal value to the governmekd an example, withessstate
or suggestinter alia, thatLiff's services werdwice the cosbf their commercial valueseeid. at
8; that Liff improperly withheld a “secret’ deliverable” from his prime coatioa, FYI, Inc., in a
way that was “upsetting and inappropriate,’atl9; that Liff spent less time working on his
reports than he did “taking calls from [Jefferson] on unrelated matterghanhbe performed

tasks‘outside the [statement of work],” idhathe“abused his contractor position because he

12



would often hang out in VETS with nothing to do and simply bill VETS for the hours,” id. at 14;
that “even though Liff was” reputed to be “being paid hundreds of thousands of dollafar, air
per diem and salary, Liff would still voucher his metro fare cards which [theietese] felt
was appalling,’id. 14-15 that the circumstance$ biff's work were analogous to another
“contractor who was paid enormous amounts of money for producing next to nothing,” id. at 15;
and,that there was a “problem implementing [Liff’'s] visual management progaause VETS
found out that the colors thhkiff wanted the walls to beginted were not possible undeeneral
Services Alministration (GSA) regulatioris.ld. at 19-20. In sum: the statements, made by third
parties but purposefully included by DARIG in its report give the unmistakable impréss
that Liff had few scruples about acting unethically, unlawfully, dishonesttyjreeffectively.
The government cannot succeed on its Motion simply because it believes itetateprof the
reportis the more sensible one.

To the extent the government contends that it did not enderten potentially
defamatory statements, but “merely relayed” them, that is not the Thseeport’s authors
gave at least some credencevitmesses irtoncluding that “Jefferson’s insistence upon
retaining the services of [Liff and two other individuals] led tothe.acceptance of gratuitous
services,” and thdthe total payment of more than $700,000 to secure Liff's services for a
period of 16 months appears t® é&xcessive.” DOIOIG ReportCover Memorandum at 1;
DOL-OIG Report at 26. nl addition,DOL’s memorandum response appears to signal its
agreement with the report’s contents, given that, as a result of the Epartecidedo
“aggressively pursue’ Liffor ‘all valid causes of action’ under, inter alia, the False Claims
Act.” Compl., § 48.Similarly, OPM’s memorandum in which it concluded that it had “taken

steps” in 2011 “to ‘ensure that OPM immediately concluded any business involvingfSte

13



Liff & Associates, Inc.]” sufficientlysuggests that a pall had been cast 8Naintiffs’ honesty
and integrity. Seeid., 1 50. The allegations thus suffice to allbwir claim to survive at this
stage.

ii. Tangible Change in Status

Governmentatiefamatiori‘alone,” of coursepffends no liberty interegtrotected byhe
Due Process Claus&eePaul 424 U.S. at 701. Only if threeefamations accompanied by a
stigma resulting in &angible change in status” will a plaintiff state a viable Fifth Amendment
claim for deprivation of a liberty interest without due process of IKartseva 37 F.3d at 1527.
In other words, th®ue Process Clauggotects against “governmental defamation™ that
“potentially constrains [a plaintiff's] future employment opportunities,iosw as the
government’s action also “constitute[s] an adjudication of [the plaintiff'sjistander law.”Id.

(quotingSiegert v. Gilley500 U.S. 226, 233-34 (1991)).

In this Circuit, &'tangible” and hus constitutionally protectathange in status may be
demonstrated in two wayby formal disqualification oby broad preclusionSeeAbdelfattah v.

U.S. Dept of Homeland Sec787 F.3d 524, 539 (D.C. Cir. 2013)nder the firstif the

relevant agency'’s “action formally or autotically excludes [Plaintiffs] from work on some
category of future [agency] contracts or other government employment oppestuthiat action
changes [their] formal legal status and thus implicates a liberty intekésittSeva 37 F.3d at
1528. “Secowl, if [the agency’s] action does not have this bindiffgct, but nevertheless has
thebroad effect of largely precluding [Plaintiffs] from pursuing [their] chosaeex[s], . . . that,
too, would constitute a ‘status change’ adequate to implicate a liberty irfitdoesOn its face,
the Kartsevatandard is sufficiently capacious to preclude dismissaldieeathe record before

the Court, which will now loolatthe twoagencies separately.
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a. OPM

Plaintiffs’ claim against OPM fits comfortably withingHirstprongof Kartesvés status
change testin that case, Zhanna Kartsewas employed by a company named Statistica that
held languagéranslation contracts with the U.S. State Departmghtat 1525. After
performing Russiaftranslation work for several months on a particular contract, Statistica was
informed by the government that a background check on Kartseva had raised “sgnice st
counterintelligence concerns” and that she was “ineligib[le] for assignmer|iState
Department] contract or projectld. at 1526 (internal quotation marks and citations to record
omitted). The government “asked Statistica to ‘act on’ the government’s osnead
Statistica promptly fired Kartsevdd. Kartseva sued, claiming she was denied adequate process
under the Fifth Amendmentd. at 1525.

The district court dismissed her suit for failure to state a claim, but the D.CitCircu
reversed, concluding that the “present record” on a motion to dismiss was “claiedhas
extent of the [government’s] disqualification” of KartseVvd. at 1528. Because the law of the
circuit held that “suspension from one government department implicates g ilitberést,” id.

(citing Reeven Aleutian Airways v. United States, 982 F.2d 594, 598 (D.C. Cir. 1993)), the court

concluded that Kartseva had pled sufficient facts to survive a motion to dismiss, ahéd that

district courton remand shoulttetermine if State made a binding determination to disqualify

Kartseva from any future contts other than the particular State contract with Statistica on

which [she] was working.ld. at 1528. If so, Kartseva’'s due-process claim would suniie.
The posture of Plaintiff's claim hereat least regarding OPMis highly analogous.

Even thoughhat agencyook “noofficial debarment action (that is, action under the published

rules governing public contracting) against” Liff and his compaagid., the Complaint

includes statements from OPM'’s director indicating Biatntiffs werede facto debarredr
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suspended from contracting with OPI8eeCompl., § 54. De facto debarment occurs when a
contractor has, for all practical purposes, been suspended or blacklisted frongwatkia
government agency without due process, namely, adequate notice and a meaningéut hearin

Phillips v. Mabus, 894 F. Supp. 2d 71, 81 (D.D.C. 20®plaintiff may establish de facto

debarment in two ways: “1) by an agency’s statement that it will not award titracior future
contracts; or 2) by an agency’s conduct demonstrating that it will not awardrttnaator future

contracts.” 1d. (quoting_TLT Constr. Corp. v. United States, 50 Fed. Cl. 212, 215-16 (2001)).

OPM’s actions- includingBerrys 2011 press conference and his 2013 memorandum
response to the OPMvestigation- providesomeevidence of bothBerry’'s allegedly
unequivocal statement, for instance, that Plaintiffs “would not be used again by OPM for
consulting services,” Compl.9D, is a crystatlear “agency[] stataeent that it will not award the
contractor future contractsMabus, 894 F. Supp. 2d at 81. The 2013 memorandum reinforces
this point:Berry’s statement that he “took steps” in July 2011 to “immediatelyladef] any
business involving” Rintiffs suggsts not only that OPM canceled any existing work but would
also ceaséuture business interactiongith them SeeCompl., 1 50.What steps Berry and OPM
in fact took are, at present, unclear. But at a minin@Riyl undeniably acted on this promise
by terminatingan outstanding task order under which Liff was to earn over $175,000 in contract
payments.SeeOPM Interim Investigative Report of April 2, 2018,28(stating that “OPM
exercised its right to terminate [a contract with Information Experts38t 248] in August
2011,” under which Liff was budgeted to receive $176,78#ilable at
https://www.opm.gov/our-inspect@eneral/reports/2013/intertimvestigativereportimproper-

contractingandprocuremenpracticesutilized-to-circumventthe-compettive-bid-process.pdf.
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These actions suffice to nudB&intiffs’ de facto debarment claimdcross the line from

conceivable to plausiblfe Twombly, 550 U.S. at 57&eeMyers & Myers, Inc. v. U.S. Postal

Service 527 F.2d 1252, 1258 (D.C. Cir. 1978\ersing district court’s dismissal of
contractor’sclaimthat Postal Service “refus[ed] to renew” its contraithout adequate

procedural protections wheptaintiffs plausibly alleged that nenenewal waspart of a

‘sanction’ taken against them foraained irregularities in [its] operating procedure§gbus,

894 F. Supp. 2d at 81 (concluding that plaintiff subcontractor survived motion to dismiss where
it alleged Navy “pulled back” $700,000 that had been allocated to its subcontract pnides a
cortract, announced its intention not to award plaintiff any more work under that cpatrdct

sent internal emails indicating that plaintiff would not get any fundirtge future under two

specific contracting vehicles)eslie & Elliott Co. v. Garreft732 F. Supp. 191, 196 (D.D.C.

1990) (“While the Navy may well have been justified in seeking to avoid furtheractstrith
the plaintiff, that is not the issue. Once the Navy has determined that it should erodong
business with the plaintiff, fair play and due process dictates that the dlbwy its debarment
procedures,” including notice and a hearing.).

b. DOL and DOL-OIG

Plaintiffs’ claims againstDOL and DOL-OIG reston a more slender reed, but they, too,
survive the government’s Motion. Becaule Complaint sets fortho facts thatvould satisfy
the first prong oKartsevés statuschange inquiryas to those activitiesi.e., a bindingevenif
informal, disqualification from agency contractiagplaintiffs mustrely on the secondartseva
prong, under which they must shdwat thegovernment broadly precludéidemfrom pursuing
their “chosen career.37 F.3d at 152&eeid. at 1529 (court must consider whether government
defendant’s actions “interfere[d] with [plaintiff’'s] constitutionallyopected ‘right to folbw a

chosen trade or professign(quoting Cafeteria Workers v. McEIrQy867 U.S. 886, 895-96
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(1961)). “The key inquiry . . . is this: Has the government, by attacking personaporater
reputation, achieved in substance an alteration of status that, if accomplishgti formal

means, would constitute a deprivation of liberty?” Trifax Corp. v. District of Colur3iiia

F.3d 641, 644 (D.C. Cir. 2003). OnfyPlaintiffs can proveahata government agenciias
seriously affeted, if not destroyed, [their] ability to obtain employment [or contractshigirt
field” will they succeed in showing a “broad preclusion” from their chosen profegdion.

(quotation marks and citations omitted, brackets in origisak als@\lexis v. Dist. of

Columbia, 44 F. Supp. 2d 331, 341 (D.D.C. 19@®aintiff “must demonstrate an injurious

impact. . . beyond a disadvantage or impediment”) (quotation marks and citation omitted).
In attempting to make this showing, Plaintiffershalkwo key facts First,theyallege

that Liff and his company have sufferacheastotal lossof revenuewhich they attribute to the

DOL-OIG report and DOL’s “ratification” of the report in its responsive memaduan. See

Compl, 1 54. According to Plaintiffs, Liff “was on track to earn more than $300,000égfid

of 2011], almost all of which wagenerated by government contr§gts. . [but that by] the end

of 2013, that amount had plummeted to about $10,000 peray®@ % decreaseld. In

addition, Liff's “attempt[s] since July 2011 to ‘re-brand’ himself as a hureaaurcesxpert for

private companies” haveeen met with little succes$d., 1 55. Second, Plaintifidlegewith

less specificitythat they have “submitted competitive bids on a variety of government contracts

since the issuance of the DE&IG report, but with one exception, ha[ve] not been selected for

any project.”1d., 1 52. In a similar vein, prime contractors that had previously “expressed

strong interest in teaming up with Liff later refused to partner with him becdtise adverse

publicity from the DOLOIG report.” Id.
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Although Plaintiffs have neither indicattdw many‘competitive bids"theysubmitted
nor stated which agenciegjeeted those bidghe allegations taken together state a plausible
claim that both DOLOIG, by generating the report, and DOL, by publicly agreeing with its

contents, have “effectively put [Plaintiffs] out of business,” Old DominionyDRIDdS, Inc. v.

Secy of Def, 631 F.2d 953, 963 (D.C. Cir. 1980), by limiting th&ibility to obtain. . .

contracts” in the field of humaresources managemer8eeTrifax Corp, 314 F.3d at 644.
Significantly, Defendants have natgued thathe DOL-OIG Report andhe DOL

memorandunmave hado effect on the government’s subsequent procurement decisions relating

to Liff and his companyln Kartseva, this preciggpe of uncertainty led the court to conclude

thatfurther factual development was appropriate in part to clarify “the exterttith\jthe

government’s] action as to Kartseva wonltarmally be available to and would legally affect

other government agencies or private employers in their decisions whethgslty éer or
permit her ® work on government contracts.” 37 F.3d at 1530 (emphasis added).

Such uncertainty similarlghadows the record heres @nexample Part 9 of the Federal
Acquisition RegulatiofFAR) requires contracting officers, as a prerequisite to awardake a
“responsibility” determinationwhich includes making an affirmative finding that the contractor
has “a satisfactory record of integrity and business ethit8.C.F.R. 88 9.103(b), 9.1(44d).

The rulesexplain that, in making such findingse “contracting officeshould use” information
from “sources such as publications [and] Government agencies§ 9.105-1(c)(5) (emphasis
added). These rules tend to suggest that the government must, or_at least should, consider
documents such as the D@IG Report or other official communications like the DOL
memorandum in making responsibility determinations. In addition, the FAR alsinsxia

common-sense principle that prime contractors must also ensure that their muboaineet
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the same standds for business ethics and integrifgee§ 9.104-4. With no additional
information from the governmeat this stagabout how the communications at issue here
would factor into the “respaibility determination” process or on other steps bearing thre
government’s decisions to contract — the Court cadefitively say that they would have no

effect on Plaintiffs’ ability to find futurgovernment-contracting workAccord Old Dominion

Dairy, 631 F.2d at 966 & n.24 (concluding tleaintracting oficer’s disparagingasponsibility
determination of prospective contractvas sufficient to implicatiberty interest, particularly
where “the determination that Old Dominion lacked integrity had already beenwuoated
through Government channels and would undoubtedly have been recommunicated evelly time [it
bid on a subsequent contract”).

Admittedly, on summary judgment, Plaintiffs’ evidence will be put to the tkshay be
that theirallegations of lost opportunities ainply histrionic or that, even if the government
could have relied on the challenged documents in denying work to Liff and his cqnighdy
not do so in any of the procurement decisions cited in the Comp&aef rifax Corp, 314 F.3d
at 644 (concludingn summary judgment thathere “the record demonstrates that [the
contractor] ‘won some and lost some’ in retaining and bidding on government contradis afte
critical] OIG Report was released,” thiintiff “failed to show anything remotely close to

‘broad preclusion™ from government contracting) (quoting Trifax Corp. v. Dist. Ofi@bia,

No. 98-2824, ECF No. 166, Mem. Op. at 14 (D.D.C. Nov. 2, 2001)). But #iegeestiors for
another day.

B. Count I (BivensClaim for Damagéas

Pointing to the same actions thetdergird their du@rocess claim against the agency

Defendants, Plaintiffalso seek damagé®m threesenior officials- Berry from OPM, Harris
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from DOL, and Petrole from DODIG — and two unknown DOIOIG investigators, aih their

individual capacities Plaintiffs thus invoke Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal

Bureau of Narcotics403 U.S. 388 (1971), whictestablished that the victims of a constitutional

violation by a federal agent have a right to recover damages against the ioffiedral court

despite the absence of any statute conferring such a rigatlson v. Green, 446 U.S. 14, 18

(1980).

The individual Defendants seek dismissal on three basexpired statute of
limitations,the absence of Bivensremedy for the claimed injury, and qualified immunifee
Mot. 16-27. The Court will address each in turn, concluding tha@ithensclaim may proceed
at this stageagainstBerry, Harris, and Petrole, but not against the two unnamed officers from
DOL-OIG.

1. Satute of Limitations

Defendants firstontendthat theBivensactionis untimely because it falls withihe
District of Columbia’s oneyear statute of limitations governing defamation actiddseMot. at
16 (citing D.C. Code 82-301(4)). Plaintiffs respond that this is not the operable statBte
Opp. at 24-25.

“As is often the case in fede@Vil law, there is no federal statute of limitations

expressly applicable to” a given clairBeeDelCostello v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, 462 U.S.

151, 158 (1983). To fill the gapourtsgenerally“borrow’ the most suitable statute or other
rule of timeliness from some other source,” which typically is “the most closely gmado
statelaw timeliness ruleld. Such “borrowing” is appropriate whether the civil remedy was

crafted by the legislature or, asarBivensaction implied directly from the ConstitutionSee
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Doe v. U.S. Deg’of Justice 753 F.2d 1092, 1114 (D.C. Cir. 1988pplying statdaw

borrowingto Bivensclaim).

Defendants argue that Count Il must be dismissed beeduddhe critical actions-i.e.,
Petrole’s publication afhe DOL-OIG report in July 2011, Harris’s publication of the DOL
memorandum in August 2011, aBdrry's release of his April 2013 lettercecurred over a year
before Plaintiffs filed suit in July 20145eeMot. at 16-17.0ne yeais appropriate, they argue,
because the D.C. Circuit Doeheld that the District’ ®neyear limitation periodjoverning
defamatiorsuitswas “most analogous” @Bivensclaim that the governmehad “deprive[d]
[plaintiff] of a constitutionally protected liberty interest in reputation without due procéss
F.2dat1105, 1111, 1114. The court reached that conclusion in part because it concluded that
“damage to reputation . is central to the [plaintifE] claim”— and thus defamation appetrs
most closely analogowstatelaw tort—and also because she soughtraditional damages
remedy to which she would be entitled in a common law defamation Actohrat 1114.

Fouryears afteDoe the Supreme Court in Owens v. Okure, 488 U.S. 235 (1989), sought

to remedy a inconsistency problem that had arisen in lower courts’ application of the
“borrowing” rule in arelated contextactions under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for deprivations of

constitutional rights by state actors. Owens the Court noted:

Some courts found analogies in comnriaw tort, others in contract
law, and still others in statutory lavDften the result had less to do
with the general nature of 83 relief than with counssel’artful
pleading . .. Consequently, plaintiffs and defendants often had no
idea whether a federal civil rights claim was barred until a court
ruled on their case.Predictability, a primary goal of statutes of
limitations, was thereby frustrated.

Id. at 240 (footnote omitted). Part of the confusion, the Court noted, was that constitigronal
claims ‘have no precise stataw analog. Id. at 249. As a resultertain analogies to stataw

causes of action, like intentional torts, were “particularly inapposit&@hghe Wide spectrum
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of claims which 81983 has come to spanid. To remedy the pervasive inconsistencies in such
actions, the Court held thatyhere state law provides multiple statutes of limitations for
personal injury actions, courts considering § 1983 claims should borrow the generaluad res
statute for personal injury actiahsld. at 249-50.

Appealing toOwens Plaintiffs argue that the District’s residual statute of limitations,
which provides a thregear period, must apply here, notwithstanding the D.C. Circuit’s decision
four years earlier iboe SeeOpp. at 25 (citing D.C. Code § 12-301(8)). Although Plaintiffs do
not make the point directly, it follows from thgiositionthat they believ®oe has been
overruled. That argument hasomeappeal Doeitself relied on thenearindistinguishabilityof

Bivens and § 1983 actions in concluding that Carey v. Piphus, 435 U.S. 247 (E0@&3e-

concerningdamag@s principles in 8983 actions — applied with equal force to Bivelasms.
SeeDoe, 697 F.2dat 1123 (‘By its termsCareyexplicitly governs only suits brought
under . .. 8 1983. But it would be difficult to defend a refusal to extend the holding of the case

to. .. Bivens actions. The bodies of law relating to the two forms of litigation have been

assimilated in rost other respecty; accordWilliams v. Hill, 74 F.3d 1339 (D.C. Cir. 1996).

At the same time, although the D.C. Circuit ineluctaligaudedthat underOwens
§ 1983 claims must be governed by the District’s tlyesdimitations periodseeEarle v.D.C.,
707 F.3d 299, 305 (D.C. Cir. 2012), the caxpresslydeclined to considgdwenss
applicability to federaBivensclaims. Seeid. at 303 n.3 (“The federal defendants are not before
us and so we treat onfthe] section 1983 clairf).. Neither party has expressly addressed
whetherDoeremains good law. Without the benefit of more thorooiggfing on this point, and
recognizing thathe law appears sufficiently unsettled, the Court is unwilling to conclude that the

action is plainly time barredSeeDoe 753 F.2cat 1115 €ourt may dismiss claim as time barred
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only “when it appears from the face of the complaint that the relevant statute of limitstrans
the actiofl). Defendants, of coursejayraise the issue again in a motion for summary
judgment.
2. Absence of Bivens Remedy
Defendants next contend that the Supreme Court has “declined to adopt ar&invedy
for reputational harm,” and that damages are timavailable td°laintiffs here.SeeMot. at 17

(citing Siegert v. Gilley500 U.S. 226 (199).) Undeniablyneither theSupreme Court nor the

D.C. Circuit hasaffirmatively recognized &8ivensremedy for‘reputational harni But
Defendants are wrong to claim that the Supreme Court has expressly declined@sdamady
for such a claim.Instead, the Court i8iegertreiterated the welkkstablished rule that
governmental defamation, standing alone, does not create a liberty interggsasded by the
Fifth Amendment.See500 U.S. at 233-34. It thus had no occasion to consider whether,

assuming the plaintithadpled a protected liberty interest, he would have recourse to a damages

remedy undeBivens Its dictum, therefore, thattdmaggs] . . .may be recoverable under state
tort law but . . . not . .in aBivensaction” is merely a descriptive statemt of the outcome in
that casend carries no weight in deciding the issue before the Court lierat. 234.

Be that as it may, there is similarly no precedent in the Supreme Court or this Circu
holding that procedat due-process violations necessapgrmita damages remedyBut see,

e.q, Arar v. Ashcroft 585 F.3d 559, 597 (2d Cir. 2000A deprivation of procedural due

process rights can give rise t@&ensclaim under our case law.”And, since theime of its

decision in Bivens, the Supreme CouraSproceeded cautiously in implying additional federal

causes of action for money damageBléshal v. Higgenbotham, 804 F.3d 417, 421 (D.C. Cir.

2015). Defendants are thus correotarguethat a damages remethay not be warranted here.
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Whether that is so, however, need not be decided at this gasrthe Court made clear
in Section lll.A, supra, Plaintiffshave made out plausible dugsrocess claim- one that, upon
further factfinding, may or may not vanish into the ether. It thus appears batvisikd and
premature to pronounce on the availability of a Bivemsedybefore deciding the threshold
guestion of whether a due-process violation has transpired. This issue, too, must await
subsequent resolution.

3. Qualified Immunity

Defendants also move to dismiss on grounds of qualified immuvtiigh “protects
government officials ‘from liability for civil damages insofar as their cohdoes not violate
clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasopatdon would have

known.” Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 231 (2009) (qubtantpw v. Fitzgerald457

U.S. 800, 818 (1982)). The doctrine “gives government officials breathing room to make
reasonable but mistaken judgments” and “protects ‘all but the plainly incompetboserwho

knowingly violate the law.” _Ashcroft v. akidd, 131 S. Ct. 2074, 2085 (2011) (quotialley

v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341 (1986)).

In determining whether an official is protected by qualified immuriitye Court must
consider [1] whethethe facts, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, establish a
violation of a constitutional right and, if so, [®hether that right was clearly established at the

time of the alleged violatioh.Mpoy v. Fenty, 901 F. Supp. 2d 144, 157 (D.D.C. 2012) (citing

Pearson555 U.S. at 232). The Gurt has the discretion to decideHich of the two prongs of
the qualified immunity analysis should be addressed first in light of the citances in the

particular case at hand.’Id. at 158 (quotindPearson555 U.S. at 236). It addresses both below.
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i. Violation of a Constitutional Right

The Court has already concluded that Plaintiffs at this stage have adequetey pl
violation of due process by the agency DefendaBtg.the qualifiedimmunity questions more
specific:havePlaintiffs’ allegations also establistithat “each Governmertfficial defendant,
through the official’s own individual actions, has violated the Constitutidgtfal, 556 U.Sat
676. The Court concludes thheir allegationsi#fice as to the three senior officeramed in
the Complaint Berry, Petrole, and Harrisbut not as to the two unnamed agents.

Defendant Berry is most straightforward: the Complaint alleges that he dypoesade
OPM from contracting with Plaintg and that he “had taken steps” to conclude any existing
business with themSeeCompl., 1 50. Defendants nonetheless counter that “Berry is not even
alleged to have made any false statements about Liff.” Mot. gE2€n assuming that is so,
false statement is not a necessary elementlefacto debarment claim, and thiis absence
will not raise the shield of qualified immunityseeMabus, 894 F. Supp. 2d at 82 (“[C]ategorical
statements that contractors will not be awarded any future contracts may aonadmfacto

debarment.”); Kartseya&7 F.3d at 1528.

Plaintiffs have similarly alleged that individual actions taken by Harris atr@|Ee had
the broad effect of precluding them from government contracting. That is enough under
Kartsevaand its successors to state a plausiblepgtoeess violation, which requires only that a
government actor’s “‘charges that the contractor lacksstgroe integrity’ have “the broad

effectof largely precluding [it]” from its chosen field of government contractimgfax Corp,

314 F.3d at 644 (quoting Old Dominion Dairy, 631 F.2d at 965andKartseva 37F.3d at

1528 respectively. Contrary to what Defendants claim, the “broad preclusion” standard has
never required a government defendant to himself take additional steps, beyonddasodgr

speech, to carry out that preclusid®eeOld Dominion Dairy 631 F.2d at 955-56 (“[W]e hold
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thatwhen the Government effectively bars a contractor from virtually all Goverhwork due

to charges that the contractor lacks honesty or integrity, due process rdtatitee contractor
be given notice . . . and some opportunity to respond to the shaefre adverse action is
taken.”). Plaintiffs’ claim that they were “effectively put. out of business” by Petrole’s public
release of the DOIOIG report, Harris’'s memorandum response, and Harris’'s poegsrence
statements suffices at this stagaleny them both qualified immunityseeid. at 963.

The Complaint fails, however, to adequately plead that the “Two Unknown Agents of
DOL-OIG” who allegedly ‘interviewed Liff on or about March 22, 2011 in connection with a
DOL-OIG investigation” violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional rightSeeCompl., § 6. The only
allegation made against these two individuals is that they interviewed him in conmnethidime
DOL-OIG investigation without “appris[ing Liff] of the false and vindict@ecusations” lodged
against him_id., 1 35, thereby depriving him ohaanimgful opportunity to address amhe
heard regardinfhe] same.” Id., 178. But the mere fact that the interviesesulted in an
official report,”id., 1 79 (note the passive voicehich, due to actions outside those agents’
control,might have ultimatelyesultedn depriving Plaintiffs of protected liberty interests is
insufficient to state a claim for damages. Plaintiffs seekiBiy@ansremedy mustglead that

each Governmertfficial defendant, through the official’s own individual actions, has violated

the Constitutiori Igbal, 556 U.Sat 676 (emphasis addedY he allegations against the two
unknown agents fail to meet that standard, and the claims against them will beetismis

ii. Clearly Established Right

The Court must also consider whether the piiasess right asserted here was clearly

established at the time of the alleged violati@eePearson555 U.S. at 232To reject an

official’ s claim of qualified immunity, “the unlawfulness” of his action must be apparertiéin t

light of pre-existing law.” Atherton v. Dist. of Columbia Office of Mayor, 567 F.3d 672, 689-90
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(D.C.Cir. 2009) (quoting Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640 (1987)) (quotation marks

omitted) If the “contours of the constitutional right tiBeefendantshre accused of violating”
are not “sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would understand that whatdzeng

violates that right; NavabSafavi v. Glassmar637 F.3d 311, 317 (D.C. Cir. 2011) (quoting

Anderson, 483 U.Sat 640), a government officer ihtitlgd] not to be forced to litigate the

consequences {tis] official conduct.” Mitchell v. Forsyth 472 U.S. 511, 527 (1985).

In pleading qualified immunity, Defendants arguenarily that “Liff has not alleged the
deprivation of a clearly established constitutional right” because “thgp@int at best raises a
gardenvariety tort claim for defamation, not a violation of the Constitution.” Mot. at 23-24.
This argument misses the mark, as it simmplyasheshe unsuccessful defense Rantiffs’
constitutional claim.As a result- and to their detriment Defendants spend most of thi&me
arguing thaPlaintiffs do not plead a viable constitutional clairather tharcontendinghat the
rightsasserted areot clearly established.

Even if theyhad taken the latter positiohowever, freedom fromde facto debarments

a clearly establishetight under D.C. Circuit precedengeeWilson v. Layne, 526 U.S. 603, 617

(1999)(qualifiedimmunity analysis looks to “cases of controlling authoritjthe relevant]
jurisdiction at the time of the incidént As discussed in Part Ill.A.8upra, the D.C. Circuit in
1994 offeredtwo specificscenarios in which a government contoasuffers a deprivation of its
liberty interest: through formal exclusion or through broad preclusion from government
contracting._Kartsevaé87 F.3d at 1527. The necessary elements of such a constitutional
violation have thus been in place for well owgenty yearsif not longer, as much dfartsevas

reasoning rested on the Circuit’s 1980 opinion in Old Dominion Dairy, 631 F.2d at 961 n.17 &

963-94. Subsequent opinions have offered numeappkcatiors of those principles imarying
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contexts such that “the contours of the right enjoy adequate process before suffedag

facto debarment “are clear” Dukore v. Dist. of Columbia, 799 F.3d 1137, 1144 (D.C. Cir.

2015) (quotingReichle v. Howardsl32 S. Ct. 2088, 2094 (20)23e= also, e.gCommercial

Drapery Contractors, Inc. v. United States, 133 F.3d 1, 6 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (“An agency may not

impose even a temporary suspension without providing the ‘core requirements’ of due: process

adequate notice and a meaningful hearing@.dylor v. Resolution Trust Corp., 56 F.3d 1497,

1506 (D.C. Cir. 1995) (“[G]overnment action precluding a litigant from future employment
opportunities will infringe upon his constitutionally protected liberty interestswhén that
preclusion is either sufficiently formal or sufficiently broad.Blaintiffs’ asserted duprocess
right is thussufficiently clear to deny qualified immunitg Petrole, Harris, and Berry.

C. Count Ill (Administrative Procedure Act)

In their final count, Riintiffs allege thathe three agency Defendants violated the
Administrative Procedure AcfThey argue thatl) the DOL-OIG Report and DOL
memorandum were “arbitrary and capricious” dmalve resulted in, and/or substantially
contributed to[] a constructive de facto debarment” in violation of the Fifth Amendment; and
(2) OPM’s termination of Information Experts’ outstanding task ones also “arbitrary and

capricious” andsiolated Plaintiffs’ “property interesin his subcontract, also in violation of the
Fifth Amendment.SeeCompl., 11 88-92.

The APAallowsplaintiffs to challenge “[a]Jgency action made reviewable by statute” and
“final agency action for which there is no otlaelequate remedy in a court.UsS.C. § 704.
Assertingthat no statutether tharthe APA makes reviewable any of the challenged agencies’

actions here, Plaintiffs insist that the DQIUG Report, the DOL memorandum, and OPM’s

decision to terminate the task order are all final agency actions under § 704tipgneview
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under the APA’s “‘@neric cause of action in favor of persons aggrieved by agency action.”

Trudeau 456 F.3d at 188 (quoting Md. Dep’t of Human RedDep’t Health & Humarservs,

763 F.2d 1441, 1445 n.1 (D.C. Cir. 1985)).

Whetheror not that is so, the problem for Pldistis that the only articulated basis for
their APA grievance is that the relevant agency actions “resulted in, sodstantially
contributed to, a constructive de facto debarment of Plaintiffs from government consulting
opportunities . . . [which] violated Liff's liberty interest in pursuing his chosen gsaie . . .

under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment.” Compl., 92 (emphasis Bdded).

that is precisely the focus of Count I, and the Court can discern no difference irapgheable
legal standards or available remedies that would render a parallel APA chalbenge n
duplicative.

A close reading of the Complaint’s prayer for relief makes this quite. cldaa remedies
stated therein are easily categorized into three typpest is theclaim for compensatory and
punitive damages. Those would not be available undexR#e which only permits actions

“seeking relief other than money damages U.S.C. § 702 (emphasis added). Second is

injunctive relief aimed at removing the injurious material from the public don&eCompl. at
35 (seeking removal of documents from government websites). Finally, Psaiatjiest that
the Court force Defendants to proactively undo the harm caused by their acticorsexgnple,
“issu[ing] a public retraction” of their report and meranda, “deem[ing]” Liff “to be a
responsible contractor with a satisfactory record of performance,” pig\ad‘name clearing
hearing,” and payfing] for a public relations firm” to help Plaintiffs scrub the internet of any

references to his misconduct relating to the challenged docunidnis.3536.
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In short, apart fronthe monetary damag@sst mentioned, Plaintiffs’ remedial strategy is
directed exclusively towards fixing prospectively whatever reputaticarah kvas inflicted upon
them by Defendants. But all of these remedies are available under CourPlaiatiffs have
identified no legal right beyonitheir Fifth Amendmentiue-process right that would enlarge the
scope of Defendants’ liabilitySee5 U.S.C § 704 (APA only permits judicial review of agency
actions “for which there is no other adequate remedy in a coumtfact, the onlyeffect of
bringingsuch aclaim under the APA’s generic cause of acticould beto substantiallyharrow
the scope of this Court’s review to only those actions properly deemed “final” under $8€4.
Trudeay 456 F.3d at 187 (“The problem with relying on the APAis .that 8704 limits causes
of action under the APA to final agency action.”) (internal citation and qoatatarks omitted).

Having ateadyupheld the facial sufficiency #laintiffs due{process claim, thed@irt

will dismiss theirAPA challenge as duplicativeseeDobkin v. Johns Hopkins Univ., No. 93-

2228, 1994 WL 146760, at *8 (D. Md. Jan. 25, 1994) (dismissing plaintiff's APA @aim
duplicative of his dugrocess claim).
V.  Conclusion

For these reasons, the Court will grant in part and deny in part Defendantsh Noti

Dismiss. A separate Ordeso statingwill issuethis day.

Isl James E. Boasberg
JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: January 8, 2016
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